70904-6

JN 23 PH 1: 49

No. 70904-6-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ALAN NORD,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

#### A. INTRODUCTION

By the State's own account, this prosecution for possession of a controlled substance and resisting arrest was a simple case. After conducting pretrial matters, the State announced it was ready to proceed with the scheduled trial. Upon returning from lunch, however, the State inexplicably changed its tune. The State confessed it had really been scrambling to prepare and announced that a continuance was necessary because it might call a witness (known about since the inception of the case) represented by the same public defender's office as the defendant, thereby creating a conflict for defendant's counsel. The court accepted the State's eleventh hour request, but neglected to specify a new trial date. After two more State requested continuances, trial finally began. The State did not call the witness that the State had used to create the conflict. Because the State's misconduct resulted in the defendant's right to a speedy trial being unnecessarily sacrificed, this Court should reverse and order the charges dismissed with prejudice.

Alternatively, the convictions should be reversed and remanded for a new trial because the prosecutor knowingly submitted extrinsic evidence, extraneous items inside a backpack-including a cell phone-to the jury. In any event, the resisting arrest conviction should be reversed

and dismissed without prejudice because the charging document was defective.

#### **B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The State committed governmental misconduct or mismanagement under CrR 8.3.

The defendant's court rule based speedy trial rights were violated.

3. The court erred in continuing the case the day of trial and in granting further continuances.

4. A backpack, admitted into evidence, was improperly sent to the jury room with items inside that were not admitted.

5. The jury erred in considering extrinsic evidence.

6. The court erred in telling the jury that it could use the cell phone that the jury found in the backpack as evidence

7. The charging document failed to allege all of the essential elements for the offense of resisting arrest.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. On the day of trial, the State declared itself ready after conducting pretrial matters. After returning from lunch, the prosecutor stated for the first time that he intended to call a nonessential witness, who was represented by defense counsel's office. Based on this artificial conflict, the court granted a continuance. This resulted in the defendant's trial being held over a month later, in violation of his rule based speedy trial rights. Did the court abuse its discretion in continuing the case and in denying the defendant's motion to dismiss for governmental misconduct and violation of his right to a speedy trial?

2. Methamphetamine and other items were found in a backpack in a car that the defendant had driven. The State moved to have some of the items from the backpack admitted separately. The State also successfully had the backpack itself admitted. Unbeknown to the defense and the court, other items not admitted into evidence remained in the backpack, including a cell phone, laptop, and a large sized shirt. Cell phones and laptops commonly have identifying information, and the defendant is a large man. The jury told the court it had found items in the backpack and asked if it could use the cell phone as evidence. The court answered yes. Are there reasonable grounds to believe that the defendant may have been prejudiced by the extrinsic evidence? Did the prosecutor commit misconduct in knowingly sending extrinsic evidence to the jury?

3. Two essential elements of resisting arrest are that the defendant acted intentionally and that the arrest was lawful. The information omitted these elements. Should the conviction for resisting arrest be reversed

because these elements do not appear in the charging document and cannot be fairly implied?

#### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

According to United States Border Patrol Agent Dante Moreno,<sup>1</sup> the Bellingham Police Department conducted a controlled buy of methamphetamine from Kayly West around 5:00 to 6:00 p.m. on January 10, 2013. 2RP 175, 177-78.<sup>2</sup> Police followed West, who was in a Honda, to a Wendy's restaurant. 2RP 178. After West and others left the Wendy's, police ceased their surveillance of the Honda. 2RP 179-180.

Later that evening, around 7:30 to 9:00 p.m., Moreno and Bellingham Police Detective William Medlen were getting coffee in the drive-through at a Starbucks. 2RP 176, 227-28. Medlen was not involved in the earlier surveillance of the Honda. 2RP 228. As they waited in line, Moreno saw the same Honda park. 2RP 176, 181. An Eagle Talon pulled up and parked next to the Honda. 2RP 176. Moments later, the two cars

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Moreno testified he was attached to the Bellingham Police Department's Special Investigations unit. 2RP 175.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The report of proceedings are referred to as follows: volume 1 ("1RP"); volume 2 ("2RP"); volume of proceedings from June 27, 2013 ("6/27/13RP"); and volume of proceedings from September 4, 2013 ("9/4/13RP"). Volume 1 contains the proceedings from June 17, 2013; July 18, 2013; July 25, 2013; and August 5, 2013. Volume 2 contains the proceedings from August 6 and 7, 2013.

Volume 1 does not have page numbers. All 102 pages, including the cover page but not a blank page, are counted.

left. 2RP 229. Moreno and Medlen followed the two cars to a nearby parking lot. 2RP 230-31.

From their vehicle about 20 yards away, Moreno and Medlen observed the driver of the Eagle Talon, later identified as Alan Nord, walk over to the driver's side of the Honda. 2RP 185, 231-32. Although they did not see any items passed, they saw what they thought was a hand to hand transaction between Nord and the driver of the Honda, a man. 2RP 185, 191, 232. Believing they had witnessed a drug transaction, they approached and identified themselves as police. 2RP 187, 234. The Eagle Talon had two passengers, a woman in the front and a man in the back. 2RP 234. The passenger in the Honda was West. 2RP 191. Medlen told Nord to stand on the sidewalk in front of the cars. 2RP 234-35, 237. Medlen asked if Nord had identification. 2RP 235. According to Medlen, Nord said he had identification in a backpack in the car. 2RP 235. Medlen told Nord to stay where he was and went to ask the passengers about the backpack. 2RP 236. The male passenger was not cooperative and swore at Medlen. 2RP 236. Medlen was unable to retrieve the backpack. 2RP 236. After Nord had been on the sidewalk for about two minutes, he ran away. 2RP 238. Moreno started to chase him, but stopped. 2RP 191.

Medlen requested a drug dog to sniff the cars. 2RP 239. Before the dog arrived, the police permitted the four people to claim possessions from the cars and walk away. 2RP 241-42, 268. When the dog arrived, it "alerted" to both cars and the police seized the cars. 2RP 240.

The next day, January 11, 2013, police arrested Nord on a Department of Corrections warrant. 1RP 19; 2RP 217. He was later released. See 2RP 118

Police executed a search warrant on the Eagle Talon on January 15, 2013. CP 6; 2RP 242, 269. Police found a backpack in the front passenger seat area of the car and searched it. 2RP 207, 244. Among the items inside were a knife, a laptop, and a book safe. 2RP 244-45. Inside the safe was a baggie of methamphetamine and a digital scale. 2RP 246. No identification was recovered from the backpack. 2RP 257. According to police, the registered owner of the Eagle Talon was a person named Samuel Alvorez. 2RP 266. Police did not contact Alvorez. 2RP 266.

On January 24, 2013, Detective Josh Danke and Border Patrol Agent James Balkman went to arrest Nord based on suspicion that he had been in possession of the methamphetamine found in the backpack. 2RP 118, 213. In an unmarked vehicle and in plain clothes, they parked about ten yards away in a parking lot adjacent to a residence where they suspected Nord might be. 2RP 119-20. Since it was about 8:00 p.m., it was dark. 2RP 151.

They saw Nord walk out of the residence and start to approach the driver's side of a vehicle. 2RP 122-23. Danke and Balkman snuck up on Nord. 2RP 121, 215. They announced themselves as police and told Nord that he was under arrest. 2RP 124, 215. The non-uniformed officers told Nord to get on the ground or put his hands behind his back. 2RP 124. Nord did not and a struggle ensued where police elbowed Nord in his face and kneed him in his stomach. 2RP 127, 141. After a uniformed police officer arrived, police successfully handcuffed Nord. 2RP 172, 217.

The State charged Nord with possession of a controlled substance, methamphetamine, RCW 69.50.4013(1),<sup>3</sup> and resisting arrest, RCW 9A.76.040(1). CP 5, 32-33. In March 2013, the parties agreed to continue the trial date to June 17, 2013. Supp. CP \_\_; Sub. No. 15.

On the day of trial, June 17, 2013, the court heard pretrial motions and held a CrR 3.5 hearing to determine the admissibility of statements by Nord. 1RP 3-45. Law enforcement officers testified about their interaction with Nord and the statements he purportedly made. 1RP 14-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Nord was also charged with another count of possession of a controlled substance, but this charge was dismissed by the State. CP 5, 32-33; 1RP 4.

40. The court admitted the statements. 1RP 44. Afterward, the parties and the court broke for lunch before proceeding to jury selection. 1RP 46. Before breaking, the prosecutor stated the trial would not take long and that the State was ready to proceed. 1RP 45-46.

After returning from lunch, the prosecutor stated he had to "bring up a matter." 1RP 48. He confessed he had been "scrambling" to the get this case to court and that he had been preparing for a separate, but more complicated case involving Nord. 1RP 49. He admitted, "to tell you the truth, I had been getting ready for that case." 1RP 49. He then stated that based on the testimony elicited from law enforcement at the CrR 3.5 hearing (Nord did not testify or call any witness), he had decided he might call Kayly West and that he would issue a subpoena. 1RP 50-51. The prosecutor asserted that West could have knowledge of who owned the backpack. 1RP 52. This presented a conflict for Nord's counsel because West was represented by the same public defender's office. 1RP 51. If the prosecutor called her, new counsel would have to be appointed for either her or Nord. 1RP 52.

Based on the prosecutor's representations about the possible conflict, the court continued the case. 1RP 59. The court, however, did not enter an order and neglected to set a new trial date, leaving it to the parties to determine a new trial date. 1RP 60-61.

Ten days later, a different judge heard from the parties. 6/27/13RP. The potential conflict was resolved. 6/27/13RP 6. Nord's trial counsel remained the same. 6/27/13RP 6. Nord reiterated that he had been ready for trial and objected to continuing the case. 6/27/13RP 6. The judge confirmed the other judge's finding of good cause and set a trial date for July 22, 2013. 6/27/13RP 8.

Four days before July 22, the State moved to continue the trial to July 29 because a police officer the State planned to call was scheduled to be on vacation. 1RP 62, 64. Over Nord's objection, the court granted the request. 1RP 64.

On July 25, history repeated itself. Four days before the rescheduled trial date of July 29, the State again moved to continue the trial. 1RP 66. A different police officer was on vacation on July 29. 1RP 66. Over Nord's objection, the court continued the case, again, to August 5. 1RP 66-67.

On August 5, Nord moved to dismiss for mismanagement and violation of his right to a speedy trial. 1RP 72; CP 28-31. The court denied the motion. 1RP 77. At trial, Nord did not testify or call any witnesses and the State did not call West to testify. 2RP 117-273. West was not on either party's witness list. 2RP 116-17; Supp. CP \_\_; Sub. No. 24, 45.

At the State' request, the court admitted the backpack as an exhibit. 2RP 245; Ex 5. The knife, book safe, bag of methamphetamine, and the digital scale were admitted as separate exhibits. 2RP 247, 250; Ex. 1-4. During deliberations, the jury asked if it could consider as evidence a cell phone that the jury had found when examining items left inside the backpack. CP 55; 2RP 322. The prosecutor explained that he had not removed all the items out of the backpack, including a laptop, and had admitted the backpack as it was. 2RP 323 ("If they picked it up, you can feel there is [sic] items. There is a laptop computer in there and other objects."). The State urged the court to answer "yes." 2RP 323. Nord argued the answer was "no." 2RP 324. The court answered yes, the jury could consider the cell phone as evidence. CP 55; 2RP 327.

The jury found Nord guilty of the two charges. CP 56. The court sentenced Nord to two years in prison for the possession conviction with the 90 day sentence for resisting arrest to be served concurrently. CP 72; 9/4/13RP 20.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The two years were to be served consecutive to a sentence from a different case. CP 72; 9/4/13RP 6-7, 20. Nord is also appealing that case. The case number for that case is 70806-6-I.

#### **E. ARGUMENT**

1. By creating a conflict for defense counsel on the day of trial, the State committed misconduct under CrR 8.3(b). The court abused its discretion in continuing the case based on that misconduct. The resulting delay of over a month violated the defendant's speedy trial rights under CrR 3.3.

The State mismanaged this simple case, depriving Nord of his right to a speedy resolution. After having months to prepare, the State obtained an eleventh hour continuance on the day of trial by announcing it might call a witness represented by the same public defender's office that employed Nord's attorney, creating a conflict. The State's action qualifies as misconduct under CrR 8.3(b) and the court abused its discretion in continuing the case. Because this resulted in violation of Nord's right to a speedy trial under CrR 3.3, this Court should reverse the convictions and order them dismissed with prejudice.

#### a. By creating a conflict for defense counsel on the day of trial, the State committed governmental misconduct.

The State was responsible for creating a conflict for Nord's counsel that unnecessarily delayed the trial. The State knew about Kayley West since the inception of the case, but waited until the eleventh hour to decide that it might call her as a witness. This improperly forced Nord to choose between conflict free counsel and his right to a speedy trial, qualifying as misconduct under CrR 8.3(b).

To obtain dismissal under CrR 8.3(b),<sup>5</sup> a defendant must show arbitrary action or governmental misconduct. <u>State v. Michielli</u>, 132 Wn.2d 229, 239, 937 P.2d 587 (1997). Simple mismanagement is sufficient to show misconduct. <u>Id.</u>

<u>Michielli</u> is representative of what facts may constitute governmental misconduct. <u>Id.</u> at 243. Charged with one count of theft, the defendant exercised his right to trial. <u>Id.</u> at 244-45. Five days before trial, the prosecutor moved to add four charges. <u>Id.</u> at 243. Despite having all the information necessary to file these charges at the beginning, the State had waited until only days before trial to amend the information. <u>Id.</u> The trial court allowed the State to amend the information. <u>Id.</u> 233. This improperly forced the defendant to sacrifice his right to a speedy trial and seek a continuance to prepare for the new charges. <u>Id.</u> at 245.

Like in <u>Michielli</u>, the State unnecessarily delayed. The State was aware of West since charging Nord in January 2013. In fact, the

CrR 8.3(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The rule reads:

The court, in the furtherance of justice, after notice and hearing, may dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial. The court shall set forth its reasons in a written order.

prosecutor's fourth question to the first witness at the CrR 3.5 hearing named West. 1RP 15 ("you had been observing an individual named Kayly West throughout the day; is that correct?"). The prosecutor was also aware that West was being prosecuted and who was representing her because he was the prosecutor assigned to West's case. CP 30. Despite the State's knowledge, the State had not planned to call her as a witness and had not filed a subpoena to secure her testimony.<sup>6</sup> See 1RP 50, 61. Only right before jury selection did the State change its mind, creating a conflict.

Below, the prosecutor claimed that his decision was based on facts elicited from the witnesses (all called by the State) at the CrR 3.5 hearing. 1RP 50. He asserted that the defense would likely present witnesses claiming that the backpack was not Nord's and that West would have knowledge about whose backpack it was. 1RP 51. The prosecutor did not substantiate these claims and it is unclear from the record what information elicited from State witnesses at the CrR 3.5 hearing was new. Even if new information had been elicited, that was no excuse. The three

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The docket indicates that the State had not yet filed its witness list. The State later filed a "supplemental" witness list on June 26, 2013, which only listed one police officer. Supp. \_\_; Sub. No. 32. The State's "amended" witness list, filed on August 5, 2013, did not list West. Supp. \_\_; Sub. No. 45; 2RP 116-17.

testifying witnesses were law enforcement officers within the State's control.

The long delay and the prosecutor's inadequate explanation "suggests less than honorable motives." <u>Michielli</u>, 132 Wn.2d at 244. The record shows that the State was not actually ready for trial and that it likely used West as an artifice for delay. Before breaking for lunch, the State claimed it was ready for trial. 1RP 46 ("I believe this case is simple and straightforward. We are ready to proceed."). After returning from lunch, the State did an about face. The prosecutor confessed that he had been "scrambling" to get the case ready and that he had been preparing for a more serious case involving Nord for the following Monday. 1RP 48-50, 55. The prosecutor blamed his lack of preparation on Nord because Nord had dared to exercise his right to a trial. 1RP 49, 52.

Even assuming no ill motive, the prosecutor could have resolved the problem by timely bringing up the matter before the trial date. At the very least, the failure to resolve the conflict sooner qualifies as "simple mismanagement."

# b. The court abused its discretion in continuing the case.

A trial court's decision to continue a case is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Kenyon</u>, 167 Wn.2d 130, 135, 216 P.3d 1024

(2009).

Had the trial court adhered to the trial schedule, the governmental misconduct would have been inconsequential. But the court accepted the State's argument, reasoning that "we have a jury cooling their heels downstairs, but it's better to thank them and send them packing now than to get into some sort of log jam three or four days hence." 1RP 55.

This was a solution in search of a problem. The State did not claim that West was an essential witness; the State only claimed it might call her in rebuttal. 1RP 51-52. But it was not even clear that Nord would testify or that he would call any witnesses (he ultimately did not). Further, the record fails to show that any testimony by West would have been relevant. West was not in the same car that the backpack was found. It is unclear what knowledge, if any, she would have of the backpack. If West was called by the State, the matter could have been dealt with then rather than push back Nord's trial by over a month. Perhaps the jury would have been inconvenienced, but Nord's right to a speedy trial would have not been unnecessarily sacrificed.

The State's delay in bringing up the possible conflict was inexcusable. West was not a person that the State learned about the day of trial or even shortly before. The State had known about her since the

beginning and only decided that it might call her as a witness on the day of trial. The court failed to consider these key facts.

Because the conflict was speculative and the State inexcusably delayed in deciding whether to call West as a witness, the trial court abused its discretion in continuing the case to an unspecified date. <u>See State v. Adamski</u>, 111 Wn.2d 574, 577-78, 761 P.2d 621 (1988) (court abused discretion in continuing case when prosecutor did not exercise due diligence in serving a subpoena upon an essential witness); <u>State v.</u> <u>Nguyen</u>, 131 Wn. App. 815, 821, 129 P.3d 821 (2006) (court abused discretion in continuing case so that State could "track" case with other cases of home invasion robberies).

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