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

the trial would be reset within the time for trial expiration period. Judge 

Uhrig did not abuse his discretion in granting a continuance. 

Judge Garrett also did not abuse her discretion in entering the trial 

setting order setting over the trial to July 22nd. It was defense counsel's 

unavailability that was the reason the case could not be set for trial on July 

15th, within the then existing expiration period, and he informed her that 

there was no earlier date that would work. See, State v. Jones, 117 Wn. 

App. 721, 729, 72 P.3d 1110 (2003), rev. den., 151 Wn.2d 1006 (2004) 
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(defense counsel's unavailability due to vacation was valid basis to 

continue case under CrR 3.3). 

c. Alternatively, trial commenced within the 
time for trial expiration date when the court 
heard preliminary motions 

While the trial court did not rest its denial of Nord's motion to 

dismiss on grounds that the trial was commenced within the time for trial 

under CrR 3.3, that is an alternative basis that was raised by the prosecutor 

below. This Court may consider this alternative basis for affirming upon 

review. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405,419,269 P.3d 207 (2012). 

A trial commences for purposes ofCrR 3.3 when the case is called 

or assigned for trial and the court hears and disposes of preliminary 

motions. Carson, 128 Wn.2d at 820. "Hearing and disposition of 

preliminary motions by the trial judge after a case is assigned or called for 

trial is a customary and practical phase of a trial." State v. Mathews, 38 

Wn. App. 180, 183,685 P.2d 605, rev. den., 102 Wn.2d 1016 (1984). 

"Preliminary motions" includes but is not limited to "pretrial motions that 

are customarily made." Redd, 51 Wn. App. at 608; see also, Carlyle, 84 

Wn. App. 33(trial commenced for purposes ofCrRLJ 3.3 whenjudge 

heard two motions in limine, one to exclude witnesses and the other 

regarding the gaze nystagmus test.). 
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On June 17th, the case was called and the trial court heard and 

decided the erR 3.5 motion, the erR 3.6 motion to suppress and the 

motion to sever. lRP 3-4, 8-44. In doing so, the trial actually commenced 

on that day within the time for trial expiration date. Therefore, even if the 

time for trial period expired on July 17,2013, the trial commenced within 

the time for trial expiration period under erR 3.3. 

3. The items in the backpack were not extrinsic 
evidence even though there wasn't testimony 
that individually identified each of the items. 

Nord asserts that items in the backpack that were not separately 

identified or admitted at the time ofthe backpack's admission into 

evidence were improper extrinsic evidence considered by the jury and that 

there is reasonable ground to believe the jury was prejudiced by its 

observation of those items. There is no requirement that all items within a 

container be separately identified before the container may be admitted 

into evidence. The backpack was admitted and defense counsel was on 

notice that there were other items in the backpack by the detective's 

testimony. There are no reasonable grounds to believe that the jury was 

prejudiced by the observation ofthe items in the backpack because the 

jury did not consider the cellphone as evidence before it reached its verdict 

and the items themselves were innocuous. 
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"It is a fundamental rule that jurors may not receive evidence out 

of court." Tarabochia v. Johnson Line, Inc., 73 Wn.2d 751,756, 440 P.2d 

187 (1968)(quoting A.L.R.2d 355 (1964)). Consideration of extrinsic 

evidence by a jury can be grounds for a new trial. State v. Balisok, 123 

Wn.2d 114, 118,866P.2d631 (1994). UnderCrR 7.5 a court may order a 

new trial "when it affirmatively appears that a substantial right of the 

defendant was materially affected" by "[ r ]eceipt by the jury of any 

evidence ... not allowed by the court." CrR 7.5(a)(1). However, " [a] 

strong affirmative showing of misconduct is necessary in order to 

overcome the policy favoring stable and certain verdicts and the secret, 

frank and free discussion of the evidence by the jury." Balisok, 123 

Wn.2d at 117-18. A new trial may be warranted if a jury considers 

extrinsic evidence. State v. Pete, 152 Wn.2d 546, 552, 98 P.3d 803 (2004). 

"Consideration of any material by a jury not properly admitted as evidence 

vitiates a verdict when there is a reasonable ground to believe that the 

defendant may have been prejudiced." Id. at 554, n 4. 

a. The cell phone and other items inside the 
backpack not separately identified were not 
extrinsic evidence. 

Extrinsic evidence is "information that is outside all the evidence 

admitted at trial, either orally or by document." Breckenridge v. Valley 

General Hospital, 150 Wn.2d 197, 199 n.3, 75 P.3d 944 (2003). All 
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physical evidence that was admitted at trial may go back to the jury room 

for the jury's consideration in its deliberations. erR 6.15( e); State v. 

Boggs, 33 Wn.2d 921, 928, 207 P.2d 743 (1949), overruled on other 

grounds by State v. Parr, 93 Wn.2d 95, 606 P.2d 263 (1980). 

There is no dispute here that the backpack was admitted into 

evidence. Ex. 5. Nord asserts, however, that items, including the cell 

phone, should have been admitted separately, and that defense counsel 

was unaware that other items were inside the backpack. Appellant's brief 

at 18-19. Nord provides no authority for his proposition that items inside 

a container are distinct from the container itself and must be separately 

admitted or described. Appellant's brief at 21. 

At trial the detective testified that the backpack had a knife with 

black gunk on it in one of the pockets (the knife was sent to the lab for 

testing and was separately admitted as exhibit 2), and that there was a 

laptop and a booksafe inside the pack. 2RP 244. The backpack was 

admitted without objection as exhibit 5. 2RP 245. The safe was admitted 

as exhibit 4. The detective testified further that there was a digital scale, 

Ziploc baggies, Qtips, a meth pipe, floss picks, needles and aluminum foil 

inside the safe as well as a bag of meth. 2RP 246. The bag of 

methamphetamine was separately admitted as exhibit 1. 2RP 247. The 

digital scale was separately admitted as exhibit 3. 2RP 247. Upon cross-
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examination, the detective again testified that he had searched the 

backpack and found a knife, a laptop and a booksafe inside it. 2RP 257-58. 

Defense counsel then asked, "Was there anything else in the backpack?" 

to which the detective responded: 

I'm sure there is, but it was - ifit's personal or, I don't want to say 
personal items, but if it's like unique items, there might be a pair of 
socks in there, there could be a handkerchief and I don't document 
that as being impounded. Those are like I put down personal 
affects (sic), and that's where I leave it. 

2RP 258. Defense counsel then confirmed with the detective that if there 

had been identification in the backpack, he would have documented it. 

2RP 258. 

Even if defense counsel had not previously examined the backpack 

before it was admitted, defense counsel was certainly on notice by the 

detective's testimony that there were other items inside the backpack aside 

from the laptop, booksafe and knife. He did not then move to have the 

items either removed from the backpack before the backpack went back as 

an exhibit to the jury room, nor did he attempt to move for reconsideration 

of admission of the backpack into evidence on those grounds. There is no 

requirement that items contained in containers must be separately admitted 

into evidence. For example, Nord does not complain on appeal that it was 

improper for the booksafe to have been admitted with the Ziploc baggies, 

meth pipe etc. inside it, although the digital scale was separately admitted. 
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CP 110. When the issue came up after the jury submitted its question 

inquiring if it could use the cell phone as evidence, the trial court 

ultimately concluded that the "clear answer" was yes, that they could 

consider the cellphone. 2RP 327. 

Nord asserts that the prosecutor committed misconduct in seeking 

to have the backpack admitted without separately identifying all the other 

items in the backpack. He essentially asserts that the prosecutor attempted 

to sneak evidence in before the jury. There is nothing from the record that 

reflects the prosecutor acted in bad faith. The prosecutor assumed that 

defense counsel had done his job and had reviewed the evidentiary 

exhibits before they were admitted. The judge assumed this too. 2RP 325. 

Defense counsel had informed the court on June 17th that he had reviewed 

all the evidence he felt was important. lRP 8. The prosecutor informed 

the court that the backpack had been up there for days, that he had showed 

it to defense counsel, and that it was obvious there were other items inside 

it if one picked up the backpack7. 2RP 325. While it would have been 

helpful if the detective had remembered what else was in the backpack on 

the stand and had specifically testified to the items, he did testify that there 

7 Nord takes exception to the prosecutor's tenninology in referring to the operation of the 
adversarial process as a game. The prosecutor' s analogy was not said in front of the jury, 
there is nothing in the record that demonstrates that the prosecutor treated the trial as 
merely a "game." 
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were other things in the backpack, although no identification8. The 

prosecutor did not commit misconduct in seeking to admit the backpack 

with some unspecified items inside it. 

Defense counsel had an opportunity to examine the backpack and 

object to its admission. From the testimony, he was on notice that other 

items existed in the backpack and chose not to further examine the 

backpack. He cannot complain that backpack was improperly admitted 

with items inside it now. The jury was entitled to review the evidence that 

was admitted and submitted to them. See, State v. Everson, 166 Wash. 

534,536-37,7 P.2d 603 (1932)Uury's examination of exhibit was proper 

where examination of admitted evidence was merely a more critical 

examination of an exhibit than had been made of it in court). 

b. Even if the items in the backpack were 
extrinsic evidence, there are not reasonable 
grounds to believe they prejudiced Nord. 

Even ifthe items contained in the backpack were not "admitted" 

when the backpack containing them was, reversal is not required unless 

there is a reasonable ground to believe that Nord may have been 

prejudiced by the jury's observation of those items. Nord asserts that 

8 It is also possible that the cell phone was just missed in the search of the backpack. The 
prosecutor stated it had been looked through and the detective testified he searched the 
backpack. 2RP 326. Presumably if either of them had been aware of it and had thought it 
had any evidentiary value, they would have obtained a search warrant to examine its 
contents. 
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there are reasonable grounds to believe that the items inside the backpack, 

the cell phone, a box with a power adaptor for a laptop inside it, USB 

cables, a charging adaptor, a flash drive, an SD card and a long-sleeved 

shirt9 prejudiced him. Nord's argument is premised upon a significant 

amount of speculation as to what the jury may have done with the items 

and how that might have been prejudicial to him. Such speculation does 

not rise to level of a reasonable ground to believe that Nord was 

prejudiced by the jury's observation of the items. 

Nord asserts that the jury's viewing ofthe cell phone specifically 

was prejudicial. First, after the jury inquired about whether it could use 

the cell phone as evidence IO, the court was careful to make a record that 

the jury had not received the court's answer to its question before it 

reached a verdict. 2RP 329-33. The jury would not have asked the 

question if it thought it could. Therefore, it is highly unlikely that the jury 

used the cell phone as evidence in its deliberations. Moreover, it is not 

reasonable to assume that the jury would have attempted to tum on the cell 

phone or that they determined that it belonged to Nord from its contents 

9 Appellants Brief at 20. Respondent's counsel has not actually seen the items because a 
trial deputy was present at the time appellate counsel viewed the backpack. 
to The jury's question stated: "When reviewing items from backpack, there is a cell 
phone. Can we use as evidence?" CP 55. 
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by activating the phone over six months after it had been seized, as Nord 

suggests. II 

The question before this Court is whether there is a reasonable 

ground to believe that Nord was prejudiced by the jury's view of a cell 

phone, the shirt and the other items referenced by Nord. None of the items 

in and of themselves identified that backpack as belonging to Nord. While 

cell phones can carry a lot of personal information inside them, cell 

phones are ubiquitous and the existence of one, in and of itself, inside a 

backpack is innocuous. 

Nord also speculates that the jury could have used the "L" size of 

the t-shirt as circumstantial evidence that the backpack belonged to Nord 

because an officer testified Nord was a large man. The officer's testimony 

was that Nord was a "big man," such a big man that he was able to pull 

two officers, who were not small men and one of whom weighed 200 

pounds, away from the car. lRP 125, 144. Based on the officer's 

testimony, it is more likely that Nord would have worn an "XL" not an 

"L" sized shirt. In addition, one of the passengers inside the car was a 

man, a man with whom the officers had had a number of previous 

II The State objects to Nord's reference to matters outside the record in order to 
substantiate his supposition that the cell phone's battery still held a charge. Appellant's 
brief at 26. If Nord wishes this Court to consider matters outside the record, he should 
file a personal restraint petition. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322,335,899 P.2d 1251 
(1995). 
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dealings. The size of the shirt is not a reasonable ground to believe that 

the jury's observation of the shirt prejudiced Nord. 

Contrary to Nord's argument, the evidence against Nord was not 

weak. In fact, the jury didn't require an answer from the court to its 

question before it was able to reach a verdict. Nord told the officer when 

he was asked for identification that his identification could be found in his 

backpack in the car. There was no other testimony about another 

backpack in the car. The officers observed Nord engage in a hand-to-hand 

exchange with a person who had been under investigation earlier in the 

day for having delivered drugs. In the officer's experienced opinion, 

given the circumstances of how the two cars met up and drove to another, 

more isolated, place in the parking lot, it appeared that Nord had engaged 

in a drug deal. Nord drove the car in which the backpack was found. He 

fled from the scene when the officer went to retrieve the backpack in 

which Nord said his identification could be found. The passengers 

claimed their belongings, leaving the backpack, and left the vehicle. 

There are not reasonable grounds to believe that Nord was 

prejudiced by the jury's observation of the other items in the backpack. 

Nord said he had a backpack in the car and there was only one backpack 

in the car. That was sufficient to prove actual possession ofthe backpack, 

although the prosecutor alternatively argued that Nord constructively 
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possessed the backpack when he drove the car from the one location in the 

parking lot to the other. 2RP 289-91. None of the backpack items that 

were not separately admitted or identified was prejudicial to Nord's case. 

4. As all the elements of the charge of resisting 
arrest were not included in the information, the 
conviction should be dismissed without 
prejudice. 

Nord next asserts that the resisting arrest conviction should be 

dismissed without prejudice because the information did not include all 

the essential elements of the charge. The State concedes that the 

information did not include all the essential elements of the crime of 

resisting arrest, even under the applicable post-verdict liberal construction 

standard. The information does not allege either that the resisting was 

done intentionally or that the arrest was lawful. Therefore, the charge 

should be dismissed without prejudice to refile. 

A charging document is constitutionally adequate only if all of the 

essential elements, statutory and non-statutory, are included in the 

document so as to place the defendant on notice of the charges and allow 

the defendant to prepare a defense. State v. K jorsvik, 117 W n.2d 93, 97, 

812 P.2d 86 (1991). When the sufficiency of a charging document is 

challenged for the first time on appeal, courts liberally construe the 

information in favor of validity. Id. at 103. A different standard of review 

35 



'. 

is employed post verdict in order to "encourage defendants to make timely 

challenges to defective charging documents and to discourage 

'sandbagging,' i.e., waiting to assert a defect in the charging document

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